

Behringer MonoPoly Ctrlr panel documentation and instructions

V1.0-2023-05-21





Introduction

Hi! Thanks for having purchased this Ctrlr Behringer MonoPoly panel!

The panel is only a patch loader/saver on computer as the Behringer MonoPoly does not support the load/save of programs or the manipulation of program parameters by Midi NRPN/CC messages except for Global settings that can be transferred to the MonoPoly. It can thus also be called a "patch mapper".

It will support you in saving and retrieving MonoPoly patches on your PC but gives you also the possibility to exchange them with other users as they are stored as sysex files.

The look and feel has been respected but of course it would be stupid to not benefit of the computer possibilities. Therefore, you also get a display of the current parameters value, a graphic display of the envelopes, and the ability to store and indicate the input/output patches, to draw patch cables on the panel, etc.

Despite careful testing it is possible that some bugs remain. Please contact <u>sunny.synths@gmail.com</u> if you find one so they can be corrected as soon as possible.

In the same spirit, contact <u>sunny.synths@gmail.com</u> as well if you would like some enhancement on the panel.

By that, please have a look on this manual to have an idea of the way of using it and its features. Enjoy making music with your MonoPoly and have fun!

Sunny Synths

About this v1.0 version

This is the first version ;-)

Table of Contents

Introduction 2
About this v1.0 version 2
Installation and features
Installation of the Ctrlr panel5
Features
Communication with your MonoPoly synth7
Preliminary info7
Some examples of connection setup7
Testing the Midi connection
Way of working9
Using the buttons and modifying parameters9
Quick reset to default value9
Opening and closing the panel10
Top panel area11
Loading a Behringer MonoPoly program12
Saving a Behringer MonoPoly program13
Program Init14
Program Rename15
Behringer MonoPoly tab16
Envelopes and Patches tab18
Library and Info tab22
Patch sheet tab24
Installing and using the MonoPoly panel as plugin
Installation25
Tests and identified limitations26
Cubase27
Cakewalk by Bandlab31
Reaper
Ableton
Studio One
Logic Pro X41
The main Ctrlr menus

Appendix	
Version history	45
MonoPoly information	45
Sysex file documentation	45

Installation and features

Installation of the Ctrlr panel

The panel is provided as a compressed .zip file containing:

- the Behringer MonoPoly panel as an .exe file on Windows PC
- the Behringer MonoPoly panel as an .app file on Mac OS (zip folder to be uncompressed)
- the Behringer MonoPoly panel as VST 32 bits and 64 bits for Windows PC
- the Behringer MonoPoly panel as VST and AU plugins for Mac OS
- this manual as PDF
- a folder containing programs from the Korg MonoPoly user manual

For the PC standalone version, decompress the zip file anywhere on your PC then copy the **Behringer MonoPoly.exe** file in some directory and launch it. The file may be scanned by your antivirus program (Avast on my computer) and should return no issue. If any, they are false and probably due to the fact that the program is not officially referenced.

For the Mac OS standalone version, it is advised to use a program like "The Unarchiver" to decompress the zip file anywhere on your Mac. Then decompress the Behringer MonoPoly.app.zip. You may have to open the **Behringer MonoPoly.app** file using Ctrl+click as it may not be recognized by the OS.

On Mac you may also do either *chmod* +*x Contents/MacOS/** on the package contents or need to go to System Preferences then Security and Privacy and to click on the Open anyway button to have the package/plugin saved as an exception in the security settings.

The program will directly display the Ctrlr window with the MonoPoly panel displaying its main tab.



It is possible that the top row buttons are not responding after the initial installation (first try the Init button for ex.). Simply close the program and restart it. The issue should be solved.

For the installation of the plugins, please refer to Installing and using the MonoPoly panel as plugin on page 25 further in this manual.

Features

You will find the following features in the Behringer MonoPoly panel:

- Behringer MonoPoly interface with same look as actual synthesizer
- Top row of support "screens" with old look
- Visual feedback by using "LED" ring buttons and indication of the value (on change or on click)
- Envelopes graphs handled by mouse or classical ADSR rotary encoders
- Load / Save programs from individual .syx files
- Easy program renaming
- Display and export of program parameters as text file
- Display of the differences between the current program and the Init program
- Ability to describe 9 input/output colored patch cables with different sources/destinations
- Patch cables drawing
- Ability to display full cables or cable plugs
- Programs have a name, author, save date and description. They can be associated to a category
- Browser of the files on the disk with reading of associated wav file if any
- Patch sheet tab with patch sheet for MonoPoly and other gear (external synths/sequencers)
- Global settings management with automatic/manual send to the MonoPoly synth
- Automatic reading of wav/aif*/aac*/mp3* files associated to a patch (*MacOS only)
- Manual/Automatic reading of any wav/aif*/aac*/mp3* file (*MacOS only)

Communication with your MonoPoly synth

If you don't want to manage global settings or if your MonoPoly is not connected by USB or Midi to your PC then you can skip this section.

Preliminary info

As mentioned in the introduction of this manual, the Behringer MonoPoly synthesizer does not support the load/save of programs or the manipulation of program parameters by Midi NRPN/CC messages.

It does however support the modification of global settings via sysex commands (see p36 and 37 of the MonoPoly manual). Unfortunately, it is also not possible to know/read the state of the global settings; only to send a message to set their value.

Some examples of connection setup

You can connect your MonoPoly and your computer in different ways but this is the most standard one.



- Connect the MonoPoly to the computer by USB or Midi DIN
- Power the MonoPoly On
- Start the MonoPoly panel
- In the Midi menu, select Input Device MonoPoly
- In the Midi menu, select Input Channel 1 (set this to the Midi Tx channel of your MonoPoly)
- In the Midi menu, check that Controller Device is set to None
- In the Midi menu, select Output Device MonoPoly
- In the Midi menu, select Output Channel 1 (set this to the Midi Rx channel of your MonoPoly).
 This is done to send Global Settings
- Quit the panel and re-open it

Testing the Midi connection

We can now test the Midi connection:

- Press some keys on your keyboard and confirm you get some sound from the MonoPoly
- In the Envelopes and patches tab, at the bottom right, set the Auto GS button ON so this is activating the automatic send of all changes done on global settings
- In the Tools menu of the panel, select Midi monitor and in the new monitor popup check Monitor input and Monitor Output ON in the View menu
- (optional) Press the Restore defaults button and check that you get the first message as in the screenshot below



- (optional) Press the Send All button and check that you get the next 13 messages
- You can also just modify one of the parameter...

Obviously, changing the Rx / Tx Midi channels will require also modifying the setting in the Midi menu and re-starting the patch mapper (maybe also the synth).

Way of working

As you will discover by yourself, the usage of the panel is pretty straightforward but there are anyway different specific things you should know... \textcircled

Using the buttons and modifying parameters



You modify parameters using rotary encoders by clicking on the button then moving the mouse cursor vertically up or down.

You can also modify any rotary encoder based parameter by hovering the mouse on the button then using the mouse scroll wheel.



Toggle buttons are modified by simply clicking on them. There is no left/right; up/down effect; just a simple toggle between the two positions.

Hold and Chord memory buttons have not been implemented in the software as they are only used on the actual synth.



Double and triple switch buttons are moving between their different positions by each click



Momentary push buttons are activated by simply clicking on them (what a surprise...). They will momentary flash.

Permanent toggle buttons are activated by simply clicking on them. They will stay highlighted until the next click.



Parameters presented as pulldowns are modified by opening the pulldown and selecting one of the pull-down items.

Quick reset to default value

Most of the rotary encoders have default values set and you can quickly revert to this preset default value by double-clicking on the button. Try with the Master Tune encoder.

Opening and closing the panel

When closing the panel (either by using **File – Quit** or by clicking on the upper right red cross) the file of the last program loaded or saved is stored.

When opening the panel, it is checked if the last file used still exists (could have been renamed or moved or deleted).

When no file is found, the Init program is loaded (in the same way as when loading the panel for the first time (unless the button **No program load at panel load** in the Envelopes and Patches tab is ON).



When the last saved file is found, the panel is restored so you can continue your work where you saved it (unless the button **No program load at panel load** in the Envelopes and Patches tab is ON).



The same is done with the root folder of the File browser (see Library and Info tab on p20).

Top panel area



In the top panel area you find 4 feedback "screens", 5 buttons and 4 tabs:

- The first screen displays the **name** of the current program
- The second screen displays the **category** of the current program
- The third one indicates the parameter currently modified and its value
- The fourth one displays the latest sysex file loaded, its author and the save date
- The Load button allows loading a sysex file from disk
- The **Save** button saves the current program to a sysex file on disk
- The Init button reset all parameters to a Basic program
- The **Rename** button allows renaming the current program
- The Behringer MonoPoly tab displays the synth
- The Envelopes and Patches tab displays the envelopes as graphs, allows the registration of 9 different input/output patches, the identification of two external synths, an effect chain and allows modifying the Category, the Author and the Description of the current program. This is also the place where you can handle the Global Settings
- The Library and Info tab provides the file browser that allows the selection of sysex files or the ability to listen to wav files, the display and the export of the parameters of the current program as text file and gives About info of the panel. It is also here that you will find the manual panel zoom that is memorized.
- The Patch sheet tab displays automatically the Behringer MonoPoly patch sheet with all parameter values (as in the manual) but with the addition of author, date, external synths and effect chain names and 12 external input/output connections

Loading a Behringer MonoPoly program

1000Pr

The panel loads and saves the program parameters as a 450 bytes sysex file (.syx) from/to your computer.

Clicking the **Load** button opens a classical Open file dialog where you can select the file to load. An internal check is done to verify that the file is compatible with the Behringer MonoPoly panel. The parameters are loaded, the top screen is showing the name of the file, the author and the saved date and a confirmation dialog is shown.



Monopoly program 'Dark Paraphonic' has been loaded

ОК

If you want, you can prevent the display of the Load confirmation message (see Envelopes and Patches tab on p18).

Saving a Behringer MonoPoly program

The panel loads and saves the program parameters as a 450 bytes sysex file (.syx) from/to your computer.

Clicking the **Save** button opens a classical Save file dialog where you can enter the name of the file to save. The last saved filename and path is proposed by default. You will get a confirmation popup if you select an existing file and want to overwrite it.

Once the parameters are saved, the top of the screen displays the name of the file, the author (as set in the Envelopes and Patches tab) and the saved date (thus, the current date) in ISO format *yyyy-mm- dd*. A confirmation dialog is also shown.

The panel stays on the current tab after a Save is done.





Program Init

Clicking the **Init** button loads the parameters for a Basic program that has the following characteristics:

- All parameters at 0 or OFF
- All tune pots in middle position
- Bend wheel targeting VCO Pitch
- MG1 wheel targeting VCF Cutoff
- Mode S&X, Double
- Arp OFF
- Transpose Normal





Program Rename

Clicking the **Rename** button opens a popup window where you can modify the name of the program. The name should be maximum 20 characters long (will be truncated if longer).



Please note that the program name can (of course) be different than the file name the program is saved in.

Behringer MonoPoly tab

In the **Behringer MonoPoly** tab, you have access to the same parameters as on the actual synthesizer.

Please refer to the Behringer MonoPoly user manual

(<u>https://www.behringer.com/product.html?modelCode=P0E3H</u>) for the explanations of each encoder/button.



The third top screen is showing the name and the value of the parameter you are modifying.

Doing a single click on any rotary encoder is displaying its name and current value **without that you need to modify it**.

Modifying the ADSR encoders of the filter and the amplifier is setting identical encoders/buttons in the Envelopes and Patches tab and adapting the envelopes graphs accordingly.

Patch cables drawing

In this tab you can also draw your patch cables.



To draw a patch cable, click on an output patch point, keep the mouse button pressed, drag the cable to a patch input point then release the mouse button.

Depending on the state of **Cables** button in the Envelopes and Patches tab, either full cables (**Cables** button ON) or cable plugs (**Cables** button OFF) will be displayed.



As soon as you are using the same input or the same output twice, the Cables button will be locked ON and only full cables will be displayed.

All the patch cables are listed and can be further managed in the Envelopes and Patches tab.

It is always the next free cable that is selected automatically.

You delete an existing cable simply by re-drawing it from its output to its input.

In the Envelopes and Patches tab you can also adjust the transparency level of the cables.

Envelopes and Patches tab

In the Envelopes and Patches tab, you can:

- adjust the VCF and VCA envelopes either with encoders or by moving the anchors of the graphs
- set/indicate up to 9 from/to patches
- delete a single patch cable or all at once
- switch between the display of patch cables or just cable plugs
- adapt the name of the external synths and FX that could be connected to your MonoPoly
- adapt the current program category, author and description (click on the current description to edit it)
- manage different panel settings
- manage the Global settings



Envelope shapes

You can modify the envelope shapes by either turning the ADSR or by using the mouse and moving the anchors on the graphs either vertically or horizontally.



When moving the anchors, the corresponding ADSR encoders will also turn and the parameter name and value will be displayed in the screen of the top panel area.

v1.0

Patch points

Besides drawing the patch cables directly on the front panel, you can also modify the from/to patches as follows:

	PATCH POINTS 0	VERVIEW	PATCH PO	DINTS SE	TUP	
	From (Output)	To (Input)	Patch: Cables	Proceed	Unpatch	Unpatch All
Patch 1	Sequencer track 1	VCO Pitch	4 单	Contractor		Contraction of the
Patch 2	Sequencer track 2	VCF Cutoff				
Patch 3	CV Out	Synth2 CV input	From:	To:		
Patch 4	Audio Out	FX input	Audio Out	¢	FX input	4
Patch 5	Not connected	Not connected				
Patch 6	Not connected	Not connected	Country 4			
	Not connected	Not connected	Synth1: -	Synth1	Synth2	FX
Patch 8	Not connected	Not connected	Synth2: -	Contraction of	Carlos and	Contraction of the
Patch 9	Not connected	Not connected	FX: -			

Clicking anywhere on a patch line (label, input, output, blank space) will select the patch to be modified and display its values in the pull-downs. You modify the "From" source and/or "To" destination and press the Proceed button to make the change.

You can also directly select a patch cable in the **Patch** pull-down then modify the **From/To** and press **Proceed**.

Use the **Unpatch** button to delete a patch cable or the **Unpatch All** button to delete all of them at once.

Use the **Cables** button to switch the display on the main panel between patch cables and just cable plugs. This button will be locked on Cables display as soon as the same input or output is used two times.

Use the **Cables transparency** rotary to set the transparency of the patch cables (not the end plugs).

Patches are numbered 1 to 9 and have a color assigned to them. When a from/to patch is set in the Envelopes and Patches tab, corresponding patch cables are displayed on the main MonoPoly tab and corresponding colored numbered circles are displayed on the patch sheet.



Numbered circles are used to help colorblind people.

Available "From" sources are the output patch points of the synthesizer plus a few additional external ones: "Not connected", "Trigger Out", "CV Out", "Phones", "Audio Out", "Synth1 CV output", "Synth2 CV output", "Synth1 Gate output", "Synth2 Gate output", "Sequencer track 1", "Sequencer track 2", "FX output"

Available "To" destinations are the input patch points of the synthesizer plus a few additional external ones: "Not connected", "Arpeggio Clock In", "Portamento", "VCF Cutoff", "VCO Pitch", "Trigger In", "CV In", "Synth1 CV input", "Synth2 CV input", "Synth1 Gate input", "Synth2 Gate input", "FX input"

Clicking the **Author** button opens a popup window where you can modify the name of the author of the patch. The name should be 15 characters maximum long (will be truncated if longer). If you leave the Author name empty then a "?" is displayed.

Clicking the **Synth1** button opens a popup window where you can modify the name of a synth connected to your MonoPoly. The name should be 11 characters maximum long (will be truncated if longer). If you leave the Synth1 name empty then a "-" is displayed.



Clicking the **Synth2** button opens a popup window where you can modify the name of a second synth connected to your MonoPoly. The name should be 11 characters maximum long (will be truncated if longer). If you leave the Synth2 name empty then a "-" is displayed.

Clicking the **FX** button opens a popup window where you can modify the name of a FX chain connected to your MonoPoly. The name should be 15 characters maximum long (will be truncated if longer). If you leave the FX name empty then a "-" is displayed.

Global settings

You can manage all the MonoPoly global settings described in the MonoPoly manual on p36.

Set the Auto GS button ON if you want the modified global setting(s) to be directly sent to the synth.

The parameter display will show (sent) or (unsent) to indicate what is happening.

Use the **Send All** button to send all the global settings at once.

		G	LOBAL	SE	TTINGS	
Midi In:	1	\$ Mod Wh. Out:	BOTH	\$	Sync Clock Src: Internal 💠	Author
Midi Out:	1	\$ Pitch Wh. Out:	BOTH	\$	Sync Clock Rate: 24 PPQ 🖨	
Key priority:	Last	\$ Kbd Output:	BOTH	\$		Send All
Midi In Transp.:	0	\$ Arp Output:	BOTH	\$	-00-	Beeter
Mod curve:	Soft	\$ Glide option:	Original	\$		Restore Defaults
Velocity curve:	Soft	\$ Ext. Clock Polarity:	Rise	\$	Note On Note Off Velocity Velocity	

You can restore all Global settings to their default values by pressing the **Restore defaults** button.

Panel settings

CURRENT PROGRAM		PANEL	SETTINGS
Current program info (click to edit the Dese	cription)	Welcome messaqe	\searrow
Program: Init program Category: Author: Sunny Synths	[Not defined]	Load OK confirm	Cables
Description: An empty program with default parameter values			Transpar.
		No load at panel load	Auto GS

Load OK Confirm: by switching this OFF, there is no confirmation popup shown after loading a program. This avoids clicking on OK.

No load at panel load: by switching this ON, when re-opening the panel, the panel will be left as you closed it in the previous session. By switching this OFF, the last saved file is restored if found (or an Init program loaded if not found).

Welcome message: displays the Welcome message or not when opening the panel.

The Auto GS button allows you to automatically send to the MonoPoly synth the individual global setting when it is modified.

Library and Info tab

In the Library and Info tab, you have access to:

- a file browser that gives you directly information about the clicked file without having to load it
- the settings when playing a wav file
- an About screen giving you information about the panel version and the history of changes
- the Panel zoom buttons keeping the zoom factor in memory till next usage of the panel
- the display of the differences between the current program and the Init program
- the display of all program parameters as a text file with the possibility to export it

PROGRAM: INIT PROGRAM CATEGORY INIT PROGRAM ENOT DEF Behringer Monopoly Envelopes and Patches Library and Info	INED]	FILE: MANUAL.SYX BY: SUNNY SYNTHS ON:	2023-05-06	Load	Save Init	Rename
Set Root Refresh Load Play		BROWSER INFO	Display	Export	Diff w/ Init	
 Presets 80er Sequenz.syx Bass.syx Basr.syx Drk Paraphonic.syx industrial Arp.syx M Poly Sequenz.syx Score FX.syx 	Program: All at Max Category: Other Description: An empty program with default param	Author: Sunny Synths Saved: 2023-05-02	BEHRINGER MONOPOLI Name	Y PROGRAM Init prog [Not defi: Sunny Syn 2023-05-0 Accelerat	ram ned] ths 6	Î
→ M: Spocky Solo.syx → Sweetwater 1.png → Sweetwater 2.png → Sweetwater 3.png → Sweetwater 3.png → Mi All at max.syx → All at max.syx → Mi All at min.syx → Behringer Monopoly patch mapper.docx → Auto Play Duration: 3scc	Behringer Monopoly panel F v1.0 - 2023-05-07 V	R MONOPOLY PANEL 200011 100% About distory of changes ersion 1.0 - 2023-03-07 Initial version ready for released	Envl Attack Envl Decay. Envl Sustain Env2 Attack Env2 Attack Env2 Sustain Env2 Release PATCH 1 SourceSK DestinationVC PATCH 2 SourceSK	: 5.4 : 4.1 : 7.3 : 7.2 : 4.1 : 5.7 equencer 7 CO Pitch		Ţ

File browser

The **File browser** allows you to navigate on your disk and browse through presets. It works as follows:

- Click on any file to display some info (name, category, author, saved date, description) about it in the Quick info window. If you click on a non-MonoPoly or .wav file then it will be indicated. When Auto Play is activated, clicking on a .wav (and AIF, AAC and MP3 on MacOS) file will play it automatically for the chosen duration and clicking on an MonoPoly .syx file will make the corresponding .wav file play automatically as well (if a wav file with the same name as the MonoPoly.syx file is found)
- Double-click on a file to load it (MonoPoly .syx file) or play it (.wav file) directly. A popup will be displayed if you do this on a not recognized file type
- Use the Set Root button to select the folder where your presets are (the patch mapper remembers the location after you quit it)
- Use the **Refresh** button to refresh the list after having saved several files or added files outside the patch mapper
- Use the Load button to load the selected file and display its parameters
- Use the Play button to manually start playing a .wav file (and AIF, AAC and MP3 on MacOS)

Audio file play settings

WAV files can be played on Windows and MacOS

AIF, AAC and MP3 can only be played on MacOS

The audio files will be played for the duration set in the **Duration** pulldown (3s, 5s, 10s or Full).

Activating **Auto Play** will automatically trigger the play of the .wav (.aif, .aac, .mp3) files OR trigger playing the .wav file corresponding to the clicked MonoPoly .syx file (if found). If there is no corresponding .wav (.aif, .aac, .mp3) file then nothing happens.



If some audio files are playing but not others, check that you are not using special characters in the filename. The panel can handle single quotes but not always other characters.

Panel zoom



The panel can be zoomed by using the Ctrl + or Ctrl – keys combinations. This is also available from the **View** menu.

Using that method is incrementing/decrementing the zoom factor by 10% steps but the main issue (for some users) is that the zoom factor is not memorized and thus at next usage the zoom is back at 100%.

This is the reason of the implementation of this "manual" zoom. Modifying the zoom factor using those buttons is changing the zoom by 5% steps and will make it keep the zoom factor for next usage.

If you are still modifying the zoom using the View menu or the Ctrlr + / Ctrlr – keys, no worries! The "manual" zoom is reading the current zoom factor on the panel each time one of the main top panel button is used (Load, Save, Init, Rename).

Display and Export info

On the right side of the panel, you have access to Program parameters:

- Use the **Display** button to list the parameters of the current program
- Use the Export button to export as a .txt file the parameters of the current program (it is not needed to first display them before exporting)
- Use the **Diff w/Init** switch to limit the display to only the differences with the Init program



Patch sheet tab

In the **Patch sheet** tab, you have access to:

- A one shot view of the values of all parameters, patch cable connections and program info



The content of this tab is adapted automatically. Directly ready for a screenshot!

Installing and using the MonoPoly panel as plugin

The following paragraphs will provide info on how to install the plugin version of the panel but also describe the way to use it and the known limitations for each DAW.

If your DAW is not listed, please perform some tests as described and send me the equivalent of text and screenshots. I'll add those in the next version of the manual.

Installation

On Windows PC, depending on your DAW version and after unzipping the main file, either copy the **Behringer MonoPoly.dll** file from the Windows VST 64 bits directory to your 64 bits plugins directory and/or the **Behringer MonoPoly.dll** file from the Windows VST 32 bits directory to your 32 bits plugins directory (Steinberg hosts often use C:\Program Files\Steinberg\VSTplugins as the default plugin path).

On Mac OS, unzip (using "The Unarchiver") then copy the **Behringer MonoPoly.vst** file from the MacOS VST directory to your VST plugin directory (/Library/Audio/Plug-ins/VST) and copy **Behringer MonoPoly.component** file from the MacOS AU directory to your plugin directory (/Library/Audio/Plug-ins/Component). You will most probably need administrator rights to perform those copies.

On MacOS you may also get the message that the "*Component or VST cannot be opened because the developer cannot be verified*". Go to System Preferences then Security and Privacy and click on the Open anyway button to have the plugin saved as an exception in the security settings.

Start your DAW and check that the plugin directory is rescanned and that the **Behringer MonoPoly** panel is visible in your list of plugins.

Here is an example in Cakewalk (a light blue scanning popup is displayed as soon as a file is added or modified in the identified 64 bits VST plugins folder):



sunny.synths@gmail.com

Tests and identified limitations

Different DAWs have been tested and some way of working presented here.

The following actions are checked:

- Creating a track using the plugin
- Displaying the instrument and checking all controls are working fine including Load/Save...
- Playing a wav file from the file browser. The DAW is often using ASIO while the wav files are played with the Windows or MacOs native player
- Saving and opening a project in the DAW. This is checking that the last patch saved is restored correctly. As in standalone mode, the last patch used is restored (not the last position of the knobs!)
- Creating a second track with the plugin
- Saving and opening a project in the DAW. This is checking that there can be different tracks using the plugin with each of their last patch saved restored correctly.
- Creating a preset in the DAW. Each DAW has different ways to do this. Creating presets can also be done by saving full channel strips that are including the VST instrument setup (Cakewalk, Reaper, Logic)
- Creating a track by selecting a DAW preset instead of selecting the plugin. Checks if the correct patch is restored. When working, this is done by loading a saved channel strip.
- Replacing a DAW preset by another DAW preset



Replacing the DAW preset in a track by another DAW preset is working fine. The only remark is that you may get some popups if you directly switch between freshly created presets (just click Cancel in those popups). Creating a new track with the plugin and switching between existing DAW presets works fine and doesn't display the popups.

	Cubase	Cakewalk	Reaper	Ableton	Studio 1	Logic
Create track	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	1	1
Using the plugin	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	V	V
Play wav	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	X	1
Save and restore project in DAW	V	V	\checkmark	\checkmark	V	V
Save and restore project with 2 tracks	\checkmark	1	\checkmark	\checkmark	V	1
Create DAW preset	1	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	1	1
Create track based on DAW preset (saved channel strip)	1	V	1	×	1	1
Replace DAW preset by another DAW preset	1	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	1

Cubase

Creating a new track

Add an Instrument track by using the Add track menu displayed when right clicking in the middle of the workspace then select the Behringer MonoPoly VST. Click on the Instrument button to display the panel and use it as you would do for the standalone version.



... or by dragging and dropping from the VSTi panel (easier).



Listening to wav files associated a patch is also working even if ASIO is used as audio driver for Cubase while the wav file player is Windows.

When saving the Cubase project, the panel is saved as well. It will be restored with the last patch used and saved.

Using several MonoPoly tracks at once

You can associate the panel to several tracks in order to keep track of the different patches used for them. Just drag and drop the plugin two or more times.



Saving a patch as a Cubase preset

You should save your patches using the Save button **inside** the panel but in addition to that you can also save them as *Cubase preset* or *Cubase track preset*.

To save as Cubase preset, click on the small diamond to the left of the small camera icon at the top of the plugin window, select Save preset... then give a name to your preset.

🤄 File Edit Project Auc	lio MIDI Scores I	Media Transport Stu	dio Workspaces	Window Hel	0					
でで	м	S L R W A	春 Touch	• 0 •	v = 🛓 🗉	/ 🔶 🏷 🤌	× ۹. 🖷 📂	/ 🍨 🏓	• •	🔆 Gri
								No Object S	Selected	
Inspector Visibility =	+ 6		4/4 🔳	٥ <mark>1</mark>	3 5	7	9 11	13	15 1	17
Behringer Mo02> C		out Channels ehringer Monopoly 0		hringer Monopo	y					
		ehringer Monopoly 0	2 🙂 🖬	Edit Vi			Load Preset			-
01 - Behringer Monop	,	÷ ◊ 🖸		OGRAM: LY SEQUEI	J7		Save Preset Save as Defaul	t Preset		
♦ No	iew MIDI						Import FXP/FX and Info Patch she			
	RAM	CATEGORY: ENOT DEF:		•			MIDIOUT			115

Later on, you can load a preset by using Load preset from the same menu or you can navigate through your presets by using the small up and downs triangle buttons.



To save as Cubase track preset, select Save track preset when right clicking on a track.



When closing the panel after Saving the track preset, be sure to set the button **No program load at panel load** to OFF and to close the panel with the upper right red cross to have your buttons positions saved in memory.



Later on, the content of the panel as is can be restored directly in a new empty track without the need of a Load from the panel by selecting Load track preset when right clicking on a track.



Creating a new track from a Cubase track preset

When creating a new track you can directly pick Using track preset from the menu. The patch will appear in the panel on a new track without the need of a using Load from the panel



Replacing the preset on an existing track by another preset

This is working fine. Just select another previously saved preset at the top left of the plugin window. All buttons will be positioned according to the newly loaded presets.

You can also scroll through the presets with the small up/down buttons.

Cakewalk by Bandlab

Creating a new track

Drag the MonoPoly plugin from the Instruments plugin window (Synths) and drop it on the main window to create a new track.

Click on the instrument icon near the track name to display the panel.



Load a preset from inside the panel and use it as you would do for the standalone version.

Listening to wav files associated a patch is also working even if ASIO is used as audio driver for Cakewalk while the wav file player is Windows or MacOs.

When saving the Cakewalk project, the panel is saved as well. It will be restored with the last patch used and saved.

Using several MonoPoly tracks at once

Works fine. To keep several plugin windows opened at once you need to pin them first (pin icon on top right of a plugin window). Patches and windows are restored when re-opening the project.



Saving a patch as a Cakewalk preset

It is possible to save the current patch as a Cakewalk preset by changing the name at the top of the plugin window (here "Fat Lead") then clicking on the Save button.



It is also possible to save a complete mixer channel as track template.

Creating a new track from a Cakewalk preset

Not found... It seems it is always needed to first create a track with the instrument plugin and then to select a preset.

Another possibility would be to save each preset as a separate track template then to create the track from those track template "presets".



Replacing the preset on an existing track by another preset

Just select another previously saved preset at the top left of the plugin window. All buttons will be positioned according to the newly loaded presets.

v1.0

Reaper

Reaper is available on Windows and MacOS. On MacOS, Reaper is supporting both VST and AU plugin versions.

Creating a new track

Select Insert virtual instrument on new track in the Track menu then select the Behringer MonoPoly VST from the VSTi category



Click on the FX button to display the panel and use it as you would do for the standalone version (right-clicking instead of direct click gives only the plugin window without the blank side area)



Listening to wav files associated a patch is also working even if ASIO is used as audio driver for Reaper while the wav file player is Windows or MacOs.

When saving the Reaper project, the panel is saved as well. It will be restored with the last patch used and saved.

Using several MonoPoly tracks at once

Works fine:



Saving a patch as a Reaper preset

Two different methods are possible:

- Save FX chain Right click on VST name in white area of plugin window then select FX chain
- Save preset Click on the + button in the plugin window then name the preset



sunny.synths@gmail.com

/STi: Behringer Monopoly (Sunny Synt	hs) - Track 2 "Behringer Monopo	ly"							v I	Param 2i	무 n 2 out UI	
	IDI Programs Too	ls Help									in to a	
PROGRAM: POLY SEQUENZ	CATEGORY: SEQUENCE			F	ILE: POL /: ALEX	Y SEQUEN NEVERSAL	IZ.SYX 0N: 2023	8-05-04	Load	Save	Init Rer	name
Behringer Monopoly Envelopes and	d Patches Library and Info Pa	tch sheet										
		ни тики) О				N OUT GATE OUT	CV IN GATE IN		E OUT TRK1 OUT	0 0	FX OUT	
	ber 🔊 Save Pr		Suni Suni		GIO PORTA	VCF VCO						
	Preset nam	e: Poly Sequenz	OK	Cancel								
behringer	Mon	0POly	1		E WAYEFORM		2 LEVEL	CUTOFF			2-2-3-4 KED TRACK	
	FREQUENCY FREQUENCY MG 2	worra No1 2 NO2 PWM			WAVEFORM		2 LEVEL			sustain	2 P Release	
2-0-0-1- 2-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0-0	WAVEFORM MG1	2 	STAC SEX X-HODE -J		WAVEFORM	VCO 3	LEVEL			sustain	PELEASE	
BEND WHEEL		ON/OFF HOLD			WAVEFORM		2				POWER	

Presets are appearing under User presets



Creating a new track from a Reaper FX chain preset

Create an empty track then right click on grey FX button to select a saved FX chain



sunny.synths@gmail.com

Creating a new track from a Reaper preset

This is not possible directly but well in two steps. First, create an empty track then click on grey FX button to display the Track FX window with the VST plugins list. Then, right click on the MonoPoly plugin and select a saved preset under Presets



Replacing the preset on an existing track by another preset

Click on the green FX button then in the FX track window, select the FX and press the Remove button.

Add the new one as described above.

Ableton

Status: This has been tested in Ableton Live Lite 11 and it is thus expected to work fine in the full versions.

Creating a new track

Drag the MonoPoly plugin from the plugin browser and drop it on the main window to create a new track.

The panel should open automatically. If not, click on the small wrench icon in the small window at the bottom.



Load a preset from inside the panel and use it as you would do for the standalone version.

Listening to wav files associated a patch is also working even if ASIO is used as audio driver for Ableton while the wav file player is Windows or MacOs.

When saving the Ableton project, the panel is saved as well. It will be restored with the last patch used and saved.

Using several MonoPoly tracks at once

Works fine. To keep several plugin windows opened at once you need to change the masking of plugin setup in Preferences. Patches and windows are restored when re-opening the project.

Search (Chri + P)			1 MIDI	2 MIDI	3 Audia	4 Audia	5 Behringer Mono B	Betringer Mone		Allevert	8 Delay	Master	100	C the 11 Lesson	
Nactions	Nama	*	н				-					Þ	1 00	Welcome to Ableton Live	
avoria	Raum			-								Þ	2 from 1	omes with a collect	ion of lessons t
	and a specific state	er Monopoly/3-Deh												elp you learn to use	
unda	File File	Edit View	MIDI	Programs	Tools	Help								a New in Live 11 - L	
474		GRAM:		CATEGO	nev:	VOLUME		FILE: -			Load	Save In	nit Renam		
truments	E Moog Matriar	T PROGRAM			DEFINED:						1000	1000 10	-	hat's New in Li	11
No Effects	High Moog Grande		Patrice Mar	nopoly/6-Behring							And a second	Second Second		nors new in L	11 94
g-bis	Minimonata y Behrin	ger Monopoly (Env													
p4	WH Massive		File Edi	t View	MIDI	Programs T	ools Help								_
nples	Karg Vocoder		PROGRA	Ma		CATEGORY			FILE: POLY				Load	Save Init Ren	iame 👘
nguates	Kerg Prolegue		POLY S	EQUENZ		SEQUENCE			BY: ALEX N	NEVERSAL 0	N: 2023-	-05-04	100	1000 1000 10	e 🔳
	STA Korg 3300		Distances in			es Library and Info	(Contraction of the local data								
	Kerg 3200		benzinger Mo	Hopory Ventreion	es and Patch	es pibrary and trito	Paten sheet								the state of the s
	100 Korg 3100								SYNTH			ni a	stq		imen
	E iZotope iris 2		112	**	Ë	ā i			0 0	0 0 0	0 0	\odot	0 (I.I.I.
or Library						\odot (\circ		CV IN GATE IN CA	VOUT GATEOUT CH	IN GATE IN	CY OUT GATE OUT	TREE OUT THE	OUT IN OUT	t all of
er Library ment Project	E furgeoode														
Packs User Library Current Project Isounds of the University Heavy Instantry	Titter MiNI	D						Sunny Synths				0 0			1
r Library rent Project rds of the Univers		behninger	124			behrin	ger	Sunny Synths		0 0 VCF VC0			CV IN CV		pete

sunny.synths@gmail.com

v1.0

Saving a patch as an Ableton preset

It is possible to save the current patch as an Ableton **.fxp** preset by clicking on the Save button in the small instrument window at the bottom of the Ableton window.



Creating a new track from an Ableton preset

Not found... It seems it is always needed to first create a track with the instrument plugin and then to select a preset as described in next paragraph.

Replacing the preset on an existing track by another preset

This is working fine. Just select another previously saved Ableton **.fxp** preset by clicking on the Load button in the small instrument window at the bottom of the Ableton window.

Studio One

Status: This has been tested in Studio One 3.5 32 bits and 4.6 64 bits version.

Playing the wav file associated to a patch seems not working.

Creating a new track

Drag the MonoPoly plugin from the plugin browser and drop it on the main window to create a new track.

The panel should open automatically. If not, click on the small Instrument editor icon on the right side of the track name.



Load a preset from inside the panel and use it as you would do for the standalone version.

Listening to wav files associated a patch is not working even if ASIO is used as audio driver for Studio One while the wav file player is Windows or MacOs.

When saving the Studio One song, the panel is saved as well. It will be restored with the last patch used and saved.

Using several MonoPoly tracks at once

Works fine. The instrument editor is showing one tab by track:



Saving a patch as a MonoPoly Studio One preset

You can save the last patch saved in the panel as a preset in Studio One by selecting Store preset in the plugin window preset menu.

In the popup menu, input the name of a Subfolder corresponding for example to the sound category.



Creating a new track from a Studio One preset

The presets and their subfolders created with the above method are appearing directly in the browser under the MonoPoly VST name in the Instruments tab or in the Files tab



Replacing the preset on an existing track by another preset

This is working fine. Just select another previously saved preset at the top left of the plugin window or with Load preset file. All buttons will be positioned according to the newly loaded presets.

Logic Pro X

Logic Pro X is only available on MacOS and handles only the AU plugin version so you must secure to have the Behringer MonoPoly.component plugin file in your AU plugin directory.

Creating a new first track

Create a new instrument track and select the Behringer MonoPoly plugin for it (under AU instruments) by clicking on the small Instrument editor icon on the right side of the track Input.



When the track is created the plugin will open automatically. If not, click in the middle of the track Input to open the panel.



Load a preset from inside the panel and use it as you would do for the standalone version.

sunny.synths@gmail.com

Listening to wav files associated a patch is also working even if ASIO is used as audio driver for Logic while the wav file player is MacOs.

When saving the Logic project, the panel is saved as well. It will be restored with the last patch used and saved.

Using several MonoPoly tracks at once

Works fine and can be done by simply creating two tracks with the plugin.

The Chir- Tacks The Chir Tacks The Chir- Tacks The Chir- Tacks The C
Ec X H L ++ ⁺ File Edit View MIDI Programs Tools Help
24 25 20 27 28 29 30 31 31
File Edit View MID Programs Tools Help
PROGRAM: CATEGORY: FILE: DARK PARAPHONIC.SYX Load Save Init Rename
PROGRAM: CATEGORY: FILE: DARK PARAPHONIC.SVX Load Save Inte Renume DARK PARAPHONIC KEVS BY! ALEX NEVERSAL ON: 2823-05-06
Privinger Monopoly Envelopes and Patcher (Binny and Indy Spath Labora)
the second secon
File Edit View MIDI Programs Tools Help
bebrico
PROGRAM: CATEGORY: FILE: POLY SEQUENCE FILE: POLY SEQUENCE Load Save Init Rename POLY SEQUENCE BY: ALEX NEVERSAL ON: 2023-05-04
Enterrore Monopoly Emelopes and Patches Enterror and Info Patch steen
א א א א א א א א א א א א א א א א א א א
MonoPoly 🖲 🗳 🖉 🧟 🤐 🖓
THE PRET APPENDENCE AND APPENDENCE A
annet annue and annue tag annue
NO WHELL NO ARTEGUATES OF A ANTIGONES AND A ANTIGONES ANTIGONE
Behringer Monopoly
Beningerwordpoy

If wished, one can also create a channel strip:

 Save the Init patch as a channel strip preset in Logic by clicking on the Setting button at the top of the channel strip in the mixer and selecting Save Channel Strip Setting as...

LUME: FILE: - Load Seve Init Rename
LUME: FILE: - Load Save init Rename
Sunny Synths Sunny Synths sunny synthsignalizan
🔳 العد يعد عد يد يعد عد عد مع مع العد العد ا
PORTAMENTO HASTERTURE WHEN YOU STURE OF UNE OF THE OFFICE
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
NERNETT WERE DETUNE THAT MARTING VC02 ACTIVE LEVE ATTACK ACCOUNT VCFED ASSIMUM ALLAND
terte ter 🔉 🎬 🎬 🖓 terte 🖓 terte 👘 👘
- tang hangang bad anna tang anna tang bad tang bad anna tang tang bad tang tang tang tang tang tang tang tang

 New tracks will be created based on that Init channel strip and can then be changed afterwards to other patches with the Load button

Saving a patch as a MonoPoly Logic preset

You can save the last patch saved in the panel as a plugin preset in Logic by selecting **Save As** in the pulldown menu of the preset area at the top of the plugin window. An .aupreset file will be created.

Logic Pro X File Edit Track Navigate Record	Mix View Window Help	C Test Ctrir - Tracks		👻 🖓 ≜ Sun 20:22 Q, 🖅
X 11+ 32 📀 🛞 🗳	41 14	(0) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (// 1234 //	<u>۲</u> Ω ۵
Edit - Functions - View Bd stc + Dark Perghanic C	3 4 5 6 7	8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16	17 16 19 20 21 22 23 24	<u>I H4</u> I A ↔ A 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 3
	File E Next 1	Oorki Programs Tools Help	Paraphonic	-
	PROGE Previous [DARK Copy Behringer Paste Load	CATEGORY: MS 1 MAYE: KEYS TRIANGULAR	FILE: -	Load Save Init Rename
	Save As Save Save As Default Recall Default Delete	behringer	Image: Contract of the	0017 C110017 1982.0017 19 0017 E 1982.0017 1982.0017 19 0017 E 1987.0017 C198 C10017 190085 0017917
Edit v Options v View v Setting Gain Reduction E0 MICL Fix	✓ Dark Paraphonic Init program Factory Presets behringen	MonoPoly		

Saving a patch as a MonoPoly Logic channel strip preset

You can save the last patch saved in the panel as a channel strip preset in Logic by clicking on the Setting button at the top of the channel strip in the mixer and selecting Save Channel Strip Setting as.... Note that this is different than saving a plugin preset.

Creating a new track from a Logic channel strip setting

This is not possible directly but well in two steps. First, create a new Software Instrument track then click on the Setting button at the top of the channel strip in the mixer and select a previously saved channel strip setting.

Replacing the preset on an existing track by another preset

This is working well when selecting a previously saved .aupreset file. Just select another previously saved preset by selecting Load in the top left menu of the plugin window. All buttons will be positioned according to the newly loaded preset, patch cables and all labels will be restored.

Logic Pro X File Edit Track Navigate Record	Mix View Window Help			🝸 💭 ≜ Sun 20:22 Q I
		Test Ctrir - Tracks		
🖄 🛈 🕐 👯 🗶	4 H		1234 🖄	C
Edit - Functions - View - + Bel >T<		N ~		I H I≜ ↔ ≜
+ 2	3 4 5 6 7		18 19 20 21 22 23 24 2	5 26 27 28 29 30 31 32
Dark Paraphonic				
	•	Dark Para	phonic	
	() Dark Paraphonic	•		
	Setting			
	File E Next	Programs Tools Help		
	PROGE Previous [CATEGORY: MG 1 WAVE: KEYS TRIANGULAR	FILE: -	Load Save Init Rename
	Сору			
	Behringer Pasto	es Library and Info Patch sheet		
	Load Save As		SINTH 1 SINTH 2	M2 M2 M2
	Save As			CATLOUT THE OUT THE OUT
	Save As Default	Sunny Synths		
	Recall Default	behringer	COM 0 0 0 0 0	
iit v Options v View v	Delete			
Setting Derrog Derring	✓ Dark Paraphonic Init program		A	
Reduction	Factory Presets			
ED	behringen	MonoPoly 🧕	www.eroen scrawe Laves currer	RESOLUTION DE LE MONTRALITY XEE TRACK
MIDI FX		PORTAMENTO	MASTER TUNE VC01	VCF NOT

This is also working fine with Channel Strips Settings. When replaced, a popup indicates that the Last file used "xxx" has been restored.

The main Ctrlr menus



Actually, not so much is used from the Ctrlr menus...

What you can use is:

- File menu: Quit is the only option
- **View** menu: allows zooming the panel in and out by 10% steps
- Midi menu: to select your MonoPoly as Output Midi device and to set its Midi channel; to set the Midi Thru (Input->Output)...
- Tools menu: use the Midi monitor popup to verify the messages between the panel and the synth
- **Help** menu: displays the About info of the panel



Appendix

Version history

Date	Version	Description	Ву
2023-05-21	1.0	First version of this manual	Sunny Synths

MonoPoly information

The Behringer MonoPoly product page: https://www.behringer.com/product.html?modelCode=P0E3H

Sysex file documentation

Here is the documentation of the sysex file used to store the parameters. It is 450 bytes long.

```
-- // Behringer MonoPoly - Sound data sysex structure - Size=450 bytes v1.0 //
___
-- Offset is what is displayed with HxD Hexadecimal analyser
-- getByte() is also using the Offset to retrieve Bytes from sysex dump
___
-- This is just a structure used to save the data on the computer
-- Nothing official or unofficial from Behringer, just a decision made by me ;-)
-- This data is not transferred by Midi
--100 = 64
--140 = 4C
___
    Offset
              | Byte content
__ _____
   0000
               1
                     FO
                                Sysex start
___
-- 0001-3
              1
                    00 20 32
                               Behringer ID
-- 0004-6
                    00 01 12
              MonoPoly
   0007
               01
                                 Sound data
___
-- 0008
               01
                                 Version
-- 0009-12
              00-03
                               Oscillators Waveform
-- 0013-16
                    00-03
                                 Oscillators Octave
              -- 0017-20
               00-64
                                 Oscillators Level
-- 0021-23
              00-64
                                Oscillators Tune
--- 0024
                     00-64
                                 Master Tune
               1
--- 0025
                00-64
                                 Filter Cutoff
--- 0026
                00-64
                                Filter Resonance
--- 0027
                     00-64
                                 Filter EG Intensity
                L
```

 0028	1	00-64	Filter Keyboard Tracking
 0029	1	00-64	VCF EG Attack Time
 0030		00-64	VCF EG Decay Time
 0031	1	00-64	VCF EG Sustain Level
 0032	1	00-64	VCF EG Release Time
 0033	1	00-64	VCA EG Attack Time
 0034	1	00-64	VCA EG Decay Time
 0035	1	00-64	VCA EG Sustain Level
 0036	1	00-64	VCA EG Release Time
 0037	1	00-64	Noise Level
 0038	1	00-01	Trigger
 0039	1	00-01	Auto Damp
 0040	1	00-64	Volume
 0041	I	00-02	Output Level
 0042	I	00-64	Bend Intensity
 0043	1	00-02	Bend Destination
 0044	1	00-64	MG1 Wheel Intensity
 0045	1	00-02	MG1 Wheel Destination
 0046-47		00-64	MG1/2 Frequency
 0048	1	00-03	MG1 Waveform
 0049	1		Not used
 0050-58	1	00-0C	Patch source (1-9)
 0059-67	1	00-0B	Patch destination (1-9)
 0068-87	I		Name (20 characters)
 0088	1	00-10	Category
 0089-344			Description (256 characters)
 0345-359	I		Author (15 characters)
 0360-369	1	Date	(10 characters for ISO date yyyy-mm-dd)
 0379-389	1		Synth1 (11 characters)
 0390-400	1		Synth2 (11 characters)
 0401-415	I		FX (15 characters)
 0416	I	00-64	X-Mod
 0417		00-64	Frequency Mod
 0418		00-01	Freq Mod switch
 0419		00-02	Mode switch 1
 0420		00-01	Mode switch 2
 0421		00-02	PWM switch
 0422		00-64	PWM Intensity
 0423		00-64	PW Width
 0424		00-64	Detune
 0425		00-64	Portamento
 0426		00-02	Transpose
 0427		00-02	Arp range
 0428		00-02	Arp direction
 0429		00-01	Arp latch
 0430		00-01	Efects On/Off

 0431	I	00-01	Not used - Hold
 0432		00-01	Not used - Mono / Chord Memory
 0433		00-01	Mono Unison
 0434		00-01	Poly Unison/Share
 0435		00-01	Poly
 0436-448			Not used
 0449		F7	End of sysex

